FILED
12-04-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN
IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2022AP2026

KONKANOK RABIEBNA, RICHARD A.
FREIHOEFER, DOROTHY M. BORCHARDT,
RICHARD HEIDEL and NORMAN C. SANNES,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL AIDS BOARD and
TAMMIE DEVOOGHT-BLANEY,
Defendants-Respondents-Petitioners.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE
JEFFERSON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE WILLIAM F. HUE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

CHARLOTTE GIBSON
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1038845

MICHAEL D. MORRIS
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1112934

AARON J. BIBB
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1104662

INTRODUCTION

A model of good government in action, Wis. Stat. § 39.44 offers small, need-based grants to college students from four groups—Black, Native American, Hispanic, and certain Southeast Asians who, statistically, experience attrition rates far above their college peers. The program succeeds. Grant recipients have graduation rates of at least twice the rates of those in those targeted groups who do not receive them. The program supplements the financial aid already available to all students and represents a tiny fraction of one percent of total aid dollars available. While the program dates to the mid-1980s, annual reports evaluate its continued efficacy, and funding relies on the biennial budget created by the Legislature and Governor.

The four respondents here, who are not students themselves and who concede they'd lack standing to bring their claims in federal court, brought a federal and state equal protection challenge in the Jefferson County Circuit Court, arguing that the statute was unconstitutional. The Higher Educational Aids Board and its Administrator (together, the Board) presented the court with expert reports, social science data, and statistics to demonstrate that the program passed muster under strict scrutiny.

The circuit court agreed that it did. The statute reflects the State's compelling interest in reducing disproportionate attribution in these four groups of college students, and is narrowly tailored to solve that problem.

The court of appeals reversed, but it misunderstood the U.S. Supreme Court's holding in *Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President & Fellows of Harvard College* 600 U.S. 181 (2023) (*SFFA*), and it ignored the extensive evidence in the record demonstrating the program's efficacy.

SFFA clarified the Court's equal protection test in the context of college admissions programs. And even assuming that the *SFFA* analysis applies to a scholarship program, Wis. Stat. § 39.44 would pass *SFFA*'s test: the program has compelling, measurable interests; it does not create a zero-sum system where others lose out on a finite, competed-for benefit; and it must be affirmatively re-funded every two years through the democratic process. The Supreme Court did not create a test that no program can pass, and Wis. Stat. § 39.44 illustrates that fact.

Respondents' claim also should have been dismissed because they lacked standing. Respondents asserted only taxpayer standing, but the program causes them no pecuniary injury, and the relief they sought in their Complaint would not have even resulted in a difference in government spending.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Government programs using racial classifications are constitutional if they have a compelling interest and are narrowly tailored to address that interest. In *SFFA*, the Supreme Court held that college admissions policies that consider race must have a measurable compelling interest, a lack of substantial harm to other groups, and a way to measure an appropriate end.

Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44 addresses disproportionate attrition rates among Black, Hispanic, American Indian, and certain Southeast Asian students by awarding grants, beginning sophomore year, through the Wisconsin technical colleges, private colleges, and tribal colleges the students attend. The grants dramatically reduce attrition rates for their recipients. Annual reports keep public officials apprised of the program's performance, and the Legislature and Governor choose whether and how to fund the program biennially. It is currently funded at less than one-half percent of aid administered by the Board.

Does Wis. Stat. § 39.44 satisfy equal protection?

The circuit court said yes.

The court of appeals said no.

2. For a plaintiff to have standing, a plaintiff must have suffered a real and immediate injury and have a legally protectable interest. In turn, to establish taxpayer standing, a plaintiff must suffer a personal, pecuniary injury. Mere disagreement with a law is insufficient.

Here, Respondents are not students seeking financial assistance. Instead, as taxpayers, their Complaint challenged some of the criteria governing the statute but did not allege any pecuniary loss, or even seek to have fewer taxpayer dollars spent. They asserted that they did *not* have standing to appear in federal court but said that, as taxpayers, all that mattered was their interest in how government funds were spent.

Did Respondents lack taxpayer standing to bring this case?

The circuit court said no.

The court of appeals said no.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a challenge to a financial aid grant program, Wis. Stat. § 39.44, called the minority undergraduate retention grant. It addresses a retention problem among certain groups in higher education: on average, Black American, Hispanic, American Indian, and certain Southeast Asian students¹ drop out of school or fail to graduate at

¹ The statute defines this group as a former citizen or descendent of a citizen of Laos, Vietnam, or Cambodia. Wis. Stat. § 39.44.

substantially higher rates than their peers. The Board oversees the statute's administration.

I. Students in groups targeted by the statute face disproportionately low retention, a problem not fixed by race-neutral financial aid.

A. The statute addresses severe retention problems for the targeted populations, problems race-neutral aid did not solve.

In May 1983, the Superintendent of Public Instruction and the University of Wisconsin System President established a joint committee “to study cooperative ways of eliminating or reducing causes leading to under-enrollment of minority students and to study factors affecting retention in post-secondary education.” (R. 55:3.) The committee expressed its mission as a joint enterprise “undertaken by the committee with the belief that cooperative educational initiatives were needed to improve the educational opportunities of minority-group people.” (R. 55:3.) The joint committee held meetings across the State, heard testimony, received comments from a diverse group of stakeholders, and reviewed projects and studied papers relevant to their mission. (R. 55:3.) It compiled its findings and recommendations into a report issued in May 1984. (R. 55:3.)

The report concluded that “[e]quality of educational opportunity is not yet a reality in the State of Wisconsin, and that “our public educational system is not serving minorities as fully as their White counterparts.” (R. 55:12.) Specifically, the report found not only that Black, Hispanic, and Native American students were greatly underrepresented on Wisconsin's campuses but also “perhaps more significantly, retention rates for [these groups of] minority students were below those of White students.” (R. 55:13.) Similarly, “[g]raduation was also less likely for minority students than for non-minority students.” (R. 55:13.) Thus, “[t]he result is a

dwindling pool of talented and educated minority people moving up the educational ladder and preparing for the world of work.” (R. 55:13.)

Calling for change, the committee concluded that Wisconsin must do more to achieve equal opportunity in its educational system: “[i]t is time for Wisconsin to assume the premier position in the quest for equality of educational opportunity for all minorities underrepresented in the educational system.” (R. 55:3.) The committee cautioned that the State “not forget the need for special efforts and programs designed to insure the proper education of Black, Asian, Hispanic, and American Indian students.” (R. 55:11.) The committee concluded that “[w]e hope [this report] will produce results that will move Wisconsin closer to the goal of equal educational opportunity for all its citizens.” (R. 55:12.)

The committee recommended a statutory retention grant that “would be designed to help improve the retention and graduation rates of minority students.” (R. 55:17.) The committee modeled the program after a similar aid program for graduate students called the Advanced Opportunity Program, which had improved minority retention and graduation rates to “approximately 80%.” (R. 55:17.) The report concluded that it “demonstrate[d] that retention and graduation can be significantly improved through specially designed financial aid programs.” (R. 55:17.)

Following that recommendation, the Governor asked the Legislature to create such a grant in his 1985–87 biennial budget proposal. (R. 49:4.) The Legislature independently studied Wisconsin enrollment data for minority groups showing that Hispanic, Black, and Native American students had greater problems staying in school and graduating than White and Asian student populations. Black student enrollment had more recently decreased further. (R. 49:6.)

The Legislature noted that race-neutral state and federal programs aimed at improving minority retention and graduation had proved ineffective. (R. 49:7, 10–11, 13.) In fact, “minority degrees as a percentage of all degrees granted declined from 2.8% to 2.4%” from 1976 to 1983. (R. 49:13.)

In response, 1985 Wis. Act 29 created two statutory programs with the goal, as the Legislative Fiscal Bureau explained, of “encourag[ing] minority undergraduate students to remain in the University by providing financial support.” (R. 49:4.) Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44, the retention grant for technical colleges and private schools, is administered by the Board; a sister program for the University of Wisconsin System, codified today at Wis. Stat. § 36.34(1), is administered by the Board of Regents. The law initially made the grant available to “Black, Hispanic[,] and American Indian undergraduates.” 1985 Wis. Act 29. It considered including Asian students, but the data showed that they “generally have a higher retention and degree completion rate than nonminorities.” (R. 49:7.)

In 1987, the Legislature expanded eligibility to Southeast Asian students from Laos, Vietnam, or Cambodia, whose families had immigrated after 1975. 1987 Wis. Act 27 § 683s; (R. 49:17).

The Legislature and Governor have affirmatively chosen to continue the program each biennium since that time, including for the 2026–27 budget cycle. 2025 Wis. Act 15.

B. Retention differences persist today.

Although the retention program has been in place for several decades, the need for its aid persists. The retention differences between the four groups and overall student population continue today. At two-year institutions, about half of all Asian and White students have completed a degree

within six years, compared to only about one-third of Hispanic students and only one-quarter of Black students. (R. 49:67–68.) For four-year institutions, on average, Asian and White students complete their degrees at a significantly higher rate than Black, Hispanic, or Native American students. (R. 49:70; 50:10.) “Compared with White students, Black students had 43 percent lower odds and Hispanic students had 25 percent lower odds of attaining an associate’s or bachelor’s degree, after accounting for other factors.” (R. 50:6.)

The same holds true for Southeast Asian students eligible for the grants, who have “glaringly lower rates of educational attainment compared to Whites and Asian Americans as a whole.” (R. 49:75.) Compared to other Asian Americans, Southeast Asian students are “twice as likely” to transfer out of their institution for non-academic reasons and often do so because they “exhaust financial resources.” (R. 49:88.)

C. Today, the program provides need-based grants to undergraduates, awarded by the individual colleges the students attend.

Today, the program provides need-based grants to undergraduates in four groups:

(1) (a) In this section “minority undergraduate” means an undergraduate student who:

1. Is a Black American.
2. Is an American Indian.
3. Is a Hispanic, as defined in s. 16.287(1)(d).
4. Is a person who is admitted to the United States after December 31, 1975, and who either is a former citizen of Laos, Vietnam or Cambodia or whose ancestor was or is a citizen of Laos, Vietnam or Cambodia.

Wis. Stat. § 39.44(1)(a). Institutions receiving funds choose grant recipients based on financial aid, without replacing other grants, and provide reports to the Board:

- (3) An institution or school receiving funds under sub.
- (2) shall:
 - (a) Award grants to eligible students on the basis of financial need.
 - (b) Demonstrate to the satisfaction of the board that such funds do not replace institutional grants to the recipients.
 - (c) Annually report to the board the number of awards made, the amount of each award, the minority status of each recipient, other financial aid awards made to each recipient and the total amount of financial aid made available to the eligible students.

Wis. Stat. § 39.44(3).

The statute is administered by the Board, an executive branch agency established by Wis. Stat. § 15.67. It is responsible for “administer[ing] the programs” in subchapter III of Wis. Stat. chapter 39. Wis. Stat. § 39.28(1). While the Board administers the retention program, awarding half the funds to technical colleges and half to private non-profits, Wis. Stat. § 39.44(2), individual grants are awarded by the participating Wisconsin technical colleges, private colleges, and tribal colleges. Wis. Stat. § 39.44(3); (R. 46:2–3). Each school’s financial aid office determines eligibility based on the applicant’s overall need picture and nominates eligible sophomores, juniors, or seniors. (R. 46:2–3.) Individual awards vary based upon financial need, with a minimum grant of \$250 and a maximum grant of \$2,500. (R. 46:3.)

II. The retention grant program achieves measurable, improved retention and does not reduce the aid otherwise available to all students.

A. The retention grant program achieves measurable, improved retention for recipients.

Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44 improves retention among recipients. In 2015–16, 80% of recipients either completed their degree or certificate or were continuing toward degree or certificate completion. (R. 47:5.) Similarly, recipient graduation or retention rates were 85% in 2016–17, 77% in 2017–18, and 80% in 2018–19. (R. 47:13, 21, 29.)

Enrollment and graduation data at Wisconsin technical colleges demonstrate that receipt of a retention grant at least doubles graduation rates at those institutions. From 2011–21, receipt of an award tripled the graduation rates for Black students who received an award—from 21.4% for students not receiving a grant, to 64.4% for those who did. (R. 41:1–2.) Across eligible minority groups, grant recipients graduated at more than double the rate of students who did not receive a grant, 69% to 29%. (R. 41:1–2.)

Recipients explained the importance of the retention grant to their remaining in school. The Board’s 2019–20 annual report stated that 85% of grant recipients reported that, without it, they either would not have been able to attend school, or would have faced difficulties in doing so:

- “If I hadn’t received the Minority Retention Grant, I would have had no way to fully pay for my schooling.”
- “Receiving the Minority Undergraduate Retention Grant was critical in my success this academic year. . . . It allowed me to pursue a higher education without accruing debilitating student loan debt.”

- “The Minority Undergraduate Retention Grant has allowed me to continue taking classes by helping me pay for them. Without this grant, I wouldn’t have been able to afford my classes and books.”
- “Receiving the Minority Undergraduate Retention Grant was important to me because I really wanted to finish school to further my career. As a single mother, I put my education on hold to care for them and, in turn, I still had a lot of loans to pay back. This grant assisted in me completing my financial obligations tie with furthering my education and limited the need for me to add to the loans I already owe.”

(R.47:42, 8, 16, 24, 32.)

B. Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44 supplements existing aid and is a minuscule addition to the overall aid picture.

Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44 is a tiny piece of the overall financial aid picture.

The Board oversees multiple financial aid programs for students enrolled at higher educational institutions in Wisconsin other than the University of Wisconsin system, including technical colleges, independent colleges, and tribal colleges. Wis. Stat. § 39.28(1); (R. 46:2). The largest among them, the Wisconsin Grant, Wis. Stat. § 39.30, accounts for nearly 94% of all aid dollars administered by the Board, and it is available to all students regardless of race, ethnicity, or national origin. (R. 54 ¶ 10)² For 2025–26 and 2026–27, the Legislature appropriated \$26,861,200 and \$28,939,700,

² Other examples of student aid programs administered by the Board include student loans (Wis. Stat. § 39.32), the Wisconsin health education loan program (Wis. Stat. § 39.325), the guaranteed student loan program (Wis. Stat. § 39.33), Indian student grants (Wis. Stat. § 39.38), tribal college payments (Wis. Stat. § 39.382), and the teacher loan program (Wis. Stat. § 39.399).

respectively, to the Board for Wisconsin grants for technical college students, and \$30,394,100 and \$32,472,600, respectively, as Wisconsin grants for private college students. 2025 Wis. Act 15, Wis. Stat. § 20.005 (listing appropriations in Wis. Stat. § 20.235(b) and (ff)). The Board's total appropriation for programs in each of these fiscal years is \$148,667,200 and \$154,902,600. 2025 Wis. Act 15 (discussing § 20.005 summary of § 20.235 appropriation).

Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44 represents less than one-half of one percent of total aid dollars administered by the Board. For 2025–26 and 2026–27, the Legislature set aside \$819,000 for retention grants for each fiscal year. 2025 Wis. Act 15; Wis. Stat. § 20.005 (money set aside for § 20.235(1)(fg)).

Board-administered aid does not include financial aid available through the federal government and at each institution. It does not include aid administered by the Universities of Wisconsin, including statutory programs that institution administers. Board-administered aid is about 9% of total aid available to students, and Wis. Stat. § 39.44 represents about one-half of 1% of that. (R. 54 ¶ 8.)

C. The retention grant program is reviewed annually and funded biennially.

In 2001, the Legislature added a requirement that the Board “report . . . on the effectiveness of the [Grant] program” annually. 2001 Wis. Act 16 § 1383. Since then, the Board annually submits a detailed report to the Legislature on the effectiveness of the retention grant program and its continued necessity. (R. 46:12.) As part of assessing the data, the Board conducts an annual survey of the program's effectiveness, including surveying grant recipients and participating institutions. (R. 46 ¶ 12.)

The Board's appropriation for Wis. Stat. § 39.44 appears in Wis. Stat. § 20.235(1)(fg), which authorizes the Board to spend funds appropriated under the statute. *See also* Wis. Stat. § 39.44(2). The amount of funds set aside in that appropriation appears in the schedule in Wis. Stat. § 20.005, which appropriates funds on a year-by-year basis.

III. Procedural history.

A. Respondents brought a facial challenge to Wis. Stat. § 39.44.

Respondents brought suit in the Jefferson County Circuit Court to challenge the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 39.44, claiming it unlawfully discriminates in violation of state and federal equal protection principles. (R. 21:1–2.) They asserted that they would lack standing under article III to bring suit in federal court. (R. 21:3.) The Complaint asked to amend the law so that it was available to all students. (R. 21:12.)

The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. The Board supported its motion with the opinions of two expert witnesses. (R. 39; 55.) Respondents did not retain experts, depose the Board's experts, or otherwise attempt to rebut their reports. The Board also supported its motion with hundreds of pages of supporting documents, including historical studies and reports, social science studies, and data. (R. 41; 47; 49–50; 55.) Respondents submitted no evidence to challenge the Board's evidence.

The circuit court (Hue, J.) granted summary judgment in the Board's favor. (R. 61, Pet.-App. 1–50.) After "reluctantly" concluding that Respondents had standing, it held that the program was lawful because the Board's unrefuted evidence showed that the program furthered a compelling interest and was narrowly tailored to that end. (R. 61:25–46, Pet.-App. 28–49.)

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