FILED
02-22-2023
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN
C O U R T O F A P P E A L S
DISTRICT 2

Case No. 2022AP2026

KONKANOK RABIEBNA,
RICHARD A. FREIHOEFER,
DOROTHY M.
BORCHARDT, RICHARD
HEIDEL, AND NORMAN C.
SANNES,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL
AIDS BOARD AND CONNIE
HUTCHINSON,

Defendants-Respondents.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE JEFFERSON
COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM
F. HUE, PRESIDING

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL D. MORRIS
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1112934

ANTHONY D. RUSSOMANNO
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1076050

Attorneys for Defendants-
Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly held that, based on the only evidence in the record, the Grant Program satisfied strict scrutiny review. While this Court may affirm on that basis, there also is a second reason Appellants' case fails: standing. On either basis, the circuit court should be affirmed, as the unrefuted evidence here points to only one conclusion.

I. Appellants lack standing to bring this suit.

Appellants' complaint alleged only one basis for standing—taxpayer standing—and even conceded a lack of standing for their federal claim. They lack it for both claims. Rather, standing (taxpayer or otherwise) requires more than just alleging that a plaintiff believes a law is illegal. Appellants must have non-speculative injury to them, which they lack.

A. Appellants lack standing for their state and federal claims.

1. Standing principles.

Standing law in Wisconsin follows a two-part analysis “similar to the federal test,” *Fox v. DHSS*, 112 Wis. 2d 514, 524, 334 N.W.2d 532 (1983), including in cases like the present one “involving a constitutional challenge.” *Foley-Ciccantelli v. Bishop’s Grove Condo. Ass’n, Inc.*, 2011 WI 36, ¶ 46, 333 Wis. 2d 402, 797 N.W.2d 789.

The first step is to determine whether the complained-of infraction “directly causes injury to the interest of the petitioner.” *Fox*, 112 Wis. 2d at 524 (citation omitted). “Abstract injury is not enough. The plaintiff must show that he ‘has sustained or is immediately in danger of sustaining some direct injury’ as the result of the challenged official conduct and the injury or threat of injury must be both ‘real and immediate,’ not ‘conjectural’ or ‘hypothetical.’” *Id.* at 525 (quoting *Los Angeles v. Lyons*, 461 U.S. 95 (1983)).

“The second step is to determine whether the interest asserted is recognized by law.” *Id.* at 524 (citation omitted). Under that standalone hurdle, courts look to the “provision on which the claim rests” and ask whether it “properly can be understood as granting persons in the plaintiff’s position a right to judicial relief.” *Foley-Ciccantelli*, 333 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 46. Restated, “the complainant ‘must have a legal interest in the controversy—that is to say, a legally protectible interest.’” *Id.* at ¶ 47 (citation omitted).

For both showings, Plaintiffs must support their standing with evidence at summary judgment: standing must be supported with “the manner and degree of evidence required at the successive stages of the litigation.” *Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992). Thus, a summary judgment requires evidence of a direct, non-conjectural

injury to an interest protected by the law. *See* Wis. Stat. § 802.08(2)–(3) (governing summary judgment submissions).

2. Plaintiffs lack standing under the established standing principles.

Appellants challenge a program that provides grants for minority students with financial need. However, their complaint alleged no cognizable injury from that program. Rather, Plaintiffs rely on simply being taxpayers, and they “object[] to [their] taxes being used to discriminate against individuals based on race, national origin, or alienage.” (R. 21:3.) They allege no injury particular to themselves.

That failing is determinative under the binding standing principles. They rely on, at best, an “abstract injury” to their sensibilities, which is not enough. *Fox*, 112 Wis. 2d at 524.

At summary judgment, Appellants Rabiebna and Freihoefer also averred that “we have a teenage child and plan to send him to college one day.” (R. 32:1; 34:1.) If Appellants believe that this speculative statement rescues their standing, they would be mistaken. This statement is, for one, speculative: they stated no concrete plans to send their children to college, much less one covered by the Grant Program.

But there also is a second fatal problem with their submission. By statute, the Grant Program is limited to those with financial need: schools “shall” grant the awards to eligible students “on the basis of financial need.” Wis. Stat. 39.44(3)(a). Appellants, who bear the burden to support their standing with evidence at summary judgment, completely failed to address that precondition. They supplied no statement, much less evidence, that any of their children would actually be eligible for the Grant Program, if they went to an eligible college, based on financial need. Nothing stated by Rabiebna and Freihoefer satisfies the requirement for an

injury to be non-conjectural—they have come forward with no evidence they are otherwise eligible for the grant but for the race component they challenge—nor are they “immediately in danger of sustaining some direct injury” based upon speculative attendance at an institution covered by the grant. *Fox*, 112 Wis. 2d at 525.

This failure is determinative under the standing requirements. Standing is absent, and the Court should affirm dismissal on this basis alone.⁴

3. Appellants’ resort to taxpayer standing does not change the analysis.

Appellants seem to believe that alleging taxpayer standing somehow relieves them of the need to satisfy basic standing principles. If that were the case, then a plaintiff could simply avoid the black-letter standing requirements by alleging that they (like every other law-abiding person) are taxpayers—in other words, it would be no hurdle at all. That has been rejected by both Wisconsin and federal courts.

The U.S. Supreme Court “has rejected claims of standing predicated on ‘the right, possessed by every citizen, to require that the Government be administered according to law.’” *Valley Forge Christian Coll. v. Ams. United for Separation of Church & State, Inc.*, 454 U.S. 464, 482–83 (1982) (citation omitted). Similarly, in *Lujan*, the Supreme Court ruled that “a plaintiff raising only a generally available grievance about government—claiming only harm to his and every citizen’s interest in proper application of the Constitution and laws, and seeking relief that no more directly and tangibly benefits him than it does the public at

⁴ The circuit court did not rule based on standing, but this Court may affirm on alternative grounds. *Glendenning’s Limestone & Ready-Mix Co. v. Reimer*, 2006 WI App 161, ¶ 14, 295 Wis. 2d 556, 721 N.W.2d 704.

large—does not state an Article III case or controversy.” *Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 573–74 (1992).

Although Wisconsin’s standing is not based on the U.S. Constitution, these principles also apply to Wisconsin’s standing analysis. For example, in *Teigen v. Wisconsin Elections Comm’n*, 2022 WI 64, 403 Wis. 2d 607, 976 N.W.2d 519, the controlling opinion rejected taxpayer standing based on mere allegations that a government actor has acted illegally: “It would mean any taxpayer could challenge almost any government action—as long as a government employee devoted some time and attention to the matter. Since that is nearly always true, this would practically eliminate standing as a consideration in most challenges to government action.” *Id.* ¶ 163. (Hagedorn, J., concurring).⁵ Rather, the principles stated above remain the law in Wisconsin: there must be an actual injury to a personal, legally-protected interest. *Id.* ¶ 160 (Hagedorn, J., concurring); *Foley-Ciccantelli*, 333 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 46.

The fact that taxpayer standing does not supersede the standing rules also is seen in particular applications. For taxpayers to meet this standard, they personally must have suffered, or will suffer, some actual “pecuniary loss.” *S.D. Realty Co. v. Sewerage Comm’n*, 15 Wis. 2d 15, 21–22, 112 N.W.2d 177 (1961). When pointing to such an expenditure, “the taxpayer must allege and prove *a direct and personal pecuniary loss*, a damage to himself different in character from the damage sustained by the general public.” *City of Appleton v. Town of Menasha*, 142 Wis. 2d 870, 877, 419 N.W.2d 249 (1988) (emphasis added). In other words, a

⁵ The lead opinion in *Teigen* was a plurality opinion. The holding of the court properly is viewed as the position taken by those members of the court who concurred in the judgment on the narrowest grounds. See *Vincent v. Voight*, 2000 WI 93, ¶ 46 n.18, 236 Wis. 2d 588, 614 N.W.2d 388. Thus, Justice Hagedorn’s concurrence states the holding of the court on standing.

generalized grievance about government conduct is not enough. A similar dynamic can be found in the other taxpayer standing cases. *See, e.g., S.D. Realty Co.*, 15 Wis. 2d at 22 (county landowner’s challenge to a county’s sewage commission lease that would require “expenditure of public funds” “to construct [a] tunnel”); *Tooley v. O’Connell*, 77 Wis. 2d 422, 431, 438, 253 N.W.2d 335 (1977) (“property owners/taxpayers in the city of Milwaukee” challenged “the financing of the Milwaukee school system and the taxing of the plaintiffs’ property,” which “require expenditures of public monies for school purposes”).

Here, Appellants attempted to read these expenditure requirements and personal injury requirements out of the standard by simply asserting that, as taxpayers, they can challenge what they believe to be an illegal government act. But taxpayer standing requires more. *Teigen*, 403 Wis. 2d 607, ¶ 163 (Hagedorn, J., concurring). First, Appellants’ requested relief would result in no difference in expenditures. They seek to remove race-based classifications from the Grant Program, but do not seek to *end* the grant, meaning the money would be spent either way. (R. 21:12.)

Below, Appellants relied on *Fabick v. Evers*, 2021 WI 28, 396 Wis. 2d 231, 956 N.W.2d 856, (R. 21:3), but that case did not overrule Wisconsin’s standing precedent. On the contrary, the court reiterated the “pecuniary loss” requirement from *S.D. Realty Company*. *Id.* at 240. It concluded it was met there because an emergency order had caused a costly deployment of national guard troops, which otherwise would not have happened. *Id.* at 240–41.

Fabick did not change the analysis and does not confer standing to Appellants. Again, as the subsequently decided *Teigen* confirms, taxpayer standing requires more than simply alleging illegal governmental conduct. *Teigen*, 403 Wis. 2d 607, ¶ 163 (Hagedorn, J., concurring). *Friends of Black River Forest v. Kohler Co.*, which also postdates *Fabick*,

confirms this, as well. There, the Wisconsin Supreme Court reiterated that the traditional two-part standing test applies in Wisconsin courts. 2022 WI 52, ¶ 1, 402 Wis. 2d 587, 977 N.W.2d 342. Far from overruling the precedent in cases like *Foley-Ciccantelli*, the supreme court relied on it as stating the prevailing law. *Id.* ¶ 2.⁶

It remains the case that, to have standing, plaintiffs must come forward with evidence of a direct, non-speculative injury personal to them. The Appellants have not.

B. Appellants’ admitted lack of standing in federal court also dooms their federal section 1983 claim.

Appellants’ federal section 1983 claim also fails for an additional reason. As they concede, Appellants lack standing to bring that claim in federal court. That concession is fatal to their claim because they cannot bring a federal claim in state court that they could not bring in federal court. Their concession also demonstrates that their claim fails to satisfy the statutory requirement in section 1983 of having an actual “injury.”

The Wisconsin Supreme Court applies federal standing rules to federal claims brought in state court. *See State ex rel. First Nat. Bank of Wis. Rapids v. M & I Peoples Bank of Coloma*, 95 Wis. 2d 303, 309 n.5 (1980) (applying “the federal law of standing” to federal claims in state court); *see also Friends of Black River Forest*, 402 Wis. 2d 587, ¶ 17 (stating that “Wisconsin has largely embraced federal standing

⁶ *Friends of Black River Forest* also confirms the general rule that “Wisconsin has largely embraced federal standing requirements, and we ‘look to federal case law as persuasive authority regarding standing questions.’” *Id.* ¶ 17 (citation omitted).

requirements”). Those cases teach that a plaintiff’s opportunity to litigate a federal claim in state court should be the same as in federal court.

Appellants conceded that in “federal court . . . [their] taxpayer standing would be insufficient.” (R. 21:3.) They alleged this in a bald attempt to prevent removal to federal court, which ordinarily is a defendant’s right when faced with a federal claim. They cannot have it both ways. Appellants affirmatively alleged they have no standing to bring their federal claim in federal court. Under Wisconsin Supreme Court precedent, this Court should apply the federal standing rules to their claim, which, by their admission, means they lack standing.

Further, Appellants’ concession that they lack federal standing also means they have no claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. That statute requires an injury: [e]very person who . . . subjects . . . any citizen . . . to the deprivation of any [Constitutional] rights. . . *shall be liable to the party injured* in an action at law” 42 U.S.C. § 1983. And that injury must be more than just “a mere generalized grievance,” *Bernhardt v. Cnty. of Los Angeles*, 279 F.3d 862, 869 (9th Cir. 2002), and there is a “necessity for proof that the act or conduct of the defendant was the proximate or legal cause of the injury to the victim,” *Daniels v. Gilbreath*, 668 F.2d 477, 488 (10th Cir. 1982).

Appellants have suffered no such injury, but rather assert a general grievance about the Grant Program’s application to minority students. They therefore neither have standing nor state a claim under section 1983.

II. The Grant Program satisfies strict scrutiny and so is constitutional.

Even if the Appellants have standing, the Grant Program is constitutional.

Under the Equal Protection clause, “all racial classifications imposed by government ‘must be analyzed by a reviewing court under strict scrutiny.’ This means that such classifications are constitutional only if they are narrowly tailored to further compelling governmental interests.” *Grutter v. Bollinger*, 539 U.S. 306, 326 (2003) (citation omitted).

Considered within the unique context of financial aid, the Grant Program is constitutional under the two-part strict scrutiny test. It furthers a compelling interest recognized by the Supreme Court: diversity in higher education. And the unrebutted evidence is that program is narrowly tailored to further that compelling interest.

A. The program furthers a compelling interest the Supreme Court has long recognized: diversity in higher education.

The Grant Program furthers the compelling interest of having student body diversity by providing financial assistance to minority students who would be unable to remain in school without it.

1. The Grant Program serves the recognized compelling interest of student body diversity.

The government has a compelling interest in adopting policies and programs that use racial classifications in order to achieve student body diversity. Diversity includes “racial” diversity. *Grutter*, 539 U.S. at 328–33. That was the type of diversity at stake in *Grutter*. In that case, a law school crafted an admissions policy specifically designed to “enroll a ‘critical mass’ of minority students.” *Id.* at 329. This policy furthered a compelling interest, the Court held, because the government “has a compelling interest in attaining a diverse student body.” *Id.* at 328.

Although *Grutter* involved an admissions policy that sought to admit minority students, its discussion of diversity in higher education covers any program designed to attain that same end, such as financial aid. That is because the admissions policy in *Grutter* was merely the *means* by which the law school sought to “attain[] a diverse student body.” *Id.* It was this *end*—“attaining a diverse student body”—that was the compelling interest. *Id.* As *Grutter* explains, the means chosen to attain that end, whether admissions, financial aid, or something else, are evaluated separately under narrow tailoring.

“Even in the limited circumstance when drawing racial distinctions is permissible to further a compelling state interest, government is still ‘constrained in how it may pursue *that end*: [T]he *means* chosen to accomplish the [government’s] asserted purpose *must be specifically and narrowly framed* to accomplish that purpose.” *Id.* at 333 (emphasis added) (citation omitted). Put differently, admissions is one way (or means)—the initial way—to attain a diverse student body. Financial aid is another way; it helps the admitted students actually enroll and attend classes, which is, after all, the real benefit to having a diverse student body, as the Court recognized in *Grutter*. 593 U.S. at 330 (discussing the benefits of *classroom* diversity, including “learn[ing] from each other” and “classroom discussion”).

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